2001

# Jeanny Louise Davis v. Johnny Mack Davis : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION**

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann., Sec. 78-2a-3(2)(i).

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

Issue on Appeal. The issues presented to the Court for review are (1) whether the trial Court abused its discretion in awarding petitioner alimony in excess of her needs, (2) in failing to divide the retirement assets equally, and (3) in ordering respondent to pay petitioner's attorney's fees.

Standard of Review. Awards of spousal support are reviewed for abuse of discretion. Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d 96, 100 (Utah 1986). The same standard is applicable to the trial court's division of property. Sorensen v. Sorensen, 769 P.2d 820, 823 (Utah App. 1989). The standard of review of the reasonableness of an award of attorney's fees is "patent error or clear abuse of discretion." Valcare v. Fitzgerald, 961 P.2d 305, 316 (Utah 1998).

## **STATUTORY AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS**

A. Section 30-3-5(1), Utah Code Ann.: "When a decree of divorce is rendered, the court may include in it equitable orders relating to the children, property, debts or obligations, and parties."

B. Section 30-3-5(7), Utah Code Ann.:

(a) The Court shall consider at least the following factors in determining alimony:

(i) the financial condition and needs of the recipient spouse...

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The parties were married on September 4, 1964. They had five children, all of whom were emancipated prior to the parties' separation. At the time of trial, petitioner ("Jeanny") was employed by the Bureau of Land Management. She earned \$2,274 per month. Respondent ("Johnny") was employed as a cabinet maker. He earned \$4,507 per month.

Following bifurcation, the parties stipulated to a partial division of real and personal property, leaving five issues unresolved for trial:

- a. Jeanny's request for an eight acre parcel of the farm property awarded to Johnny;
- b. the division of retirement assets;
- c. the disposition of a bank account with approximately \$10,000 on deposit;
- d. Jeanny's request for alimony; and
- e. attorney's fees.

Except for the retirement assets, the Court divided the real and personal property in a manner that favored Jeanny, and then attempted to equalize this

discrepancy by giving Johnny \$33,400 in "credits" against his alimony obligation, which the Court ordered Johnny to pay at the rate of \$1,000 per month for ten years.

Addressing the retirement assets separately, the Court awarded each party his or her retirement accounts. This left Johnny with his 401(k) account valued at \$6,731. Jeanny received her Thrift Savings Account, which was valued at \$51,385, her pension with an anticipated value of \$150 per month.<sup>1</sup> This division gave Jeanny 88% of the retirement assets that existed at the time of trial, plus her pension.

The Court then ordered Johnny to pay \$2,500 of Jeanny's attorney's fees.

## **ARGUMENT**

1. The Court abused its discretion in awarding Jeanny alimony in excess of her needs.

The Court has broad discretion in making an alimony award, but it must exercise that discretion within appropriate legal standards. In Bell v. Bell, 810 P.2d 489 (Utah App. 1991), the Utah Court of Appeals held that it is an abuse of discretion for a court not to consider each of three factors set forth in Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072 (Utah 1985) in determining a spouse's need for alimony. Those factors are (1) the receiving spouse's reasonable and necessary needs, (2) the receiving spouse's ability to support him- or herself, and (3) the paying spouse's ability to make up the

---

<sup>1</sup>. Both parties had also liquidated retirement assets postseparation. Johnny cashed in an annuity worth \$5,766. Jeanny liquidated a joint IDS account worth \$17,501. No consideration was given to any of the funds that had been spent.



shortfall, if any. In considering these factors, the trial court is required to make adequate factual findings on all material issues unless the facts in the record are "clear, uncontroverted, and capable of supporting only a finding in favor of the judgment." Haumont v. Haumont, 793 P.2d 421, 424 (Utah App. 1990) (quoting Throckmorton v. Throckmorton, 767 P.2d 121, 124 (Utah App. 1988)).

Here the Court made no findings regarding the Jones factors. Rather, it simply stated that "alimony of \$1,000 per month is appropriate." This arbitrary figure was inconsistent with the evidence presented at trial, which established that Jeanny's unmet needs were no more than \$178 per month.

Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to Jeanny, her needs were \$1,775 per month. This was set forth in her Financial Declaration, which was "received as a pleading" (Tr. 29). In it, she claimed to need \$2,210 per month, but she admitted that this figure included the \$335 payment on the farm property that was awarded to Johnny (Tr. 70). Ignoring all of the challenges Johnny made to the rest of Jeanny's claims, her monthly needs were therefore no more than \$1,775.

Jeanny's income was established by her wage stub (Exh. 5). It showed that she netted \$632.08 every two weeks, or \$1,369.51 per month. In addition to this figure, however, Jeanny was making voluntary contributions to her Thrift Savings Plan of \$104.96 every two weeks, or \$227.41 per month (Tr. 58 and 71). Adding this to her net income, she had \$1,596.92 available to meet her monthly needs.

Subtracting Jeanny's income of \$1,596.92 from her budget of \$1,775.00, she would be left with unmet needs of \$178.08. This is the maximum amount of alimony that could have been awarded based on the evidence presented to the Court.

For the purposes of this appeal, Johnny's ability to pay is conceded.

2. The Court abused its discretion in failing to divide the retirement assets equally.

Absent special circumstances, property accumulated by the parties during the marriage should be equally divided. Maxwell v. Maxwell, 754 P.2d 84, 86-87 (Utah App. 1990). The court ignored this principle, apparently deciding to give Jeanny virtually all of the retirement assets because she had earned them: "She's put that money in her retirement. To divide that equitably, I'm going to give it to her ... perhaps he ought to get some credit for that, but I'm just not going to give him any." Tr. 129-30.

Johnny was an equal partner in this marriage; the distribution of marital assets, including retirement assets, should reflect that fact. The trial court's division of retirement assets, in which Jeanny received 88% of the total, was an abuse of discretion.

3. The Court abused its discretion by ordering Johnny to pay \$2,500 of Jeanny's attorney's fees.

The decision to award attorney's fees must be based on evidence of the reasonableness of the requested fees, the financial need of the receiving spouse, and the ability of the other spouse to pay. Bell v. Bell, 810 P.2d 489, 493 (Utah App. 1991).

Here the court ordered Johnny to pay \$2,500 of Jeanny's fees without addressing any of these factors. Jeanny testified that she had paid \$3,000 in fees (Tr. 44). During closing arguments, her counsel indicated that this figure was actually \$2,500, and this was the total amount that had been billed (Tr. 113-14).

There was no evidence of Jeanny's need. To the contrary, the evidence was that Jeanny had virtually all of the marital funds in her possession, and no need for assistance from Johnny.