2001

Jeanny Louise Davis v. Johnny Mack Davis : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann., Sec § 78-2a-(3)(2)(i).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Pursuant to Rule 24(b) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, the Appellee's Statement of Issues and Standard of Review is agreed upon as is set forth in Appellant's Brief, page 2, and therefore, shall not be set forth separately in this Brief.

STATUTORY AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

A. Section 30-3-5(1), Utah Code Ann.,: "When a decree of divorce is rendered, the court may include in it equitable orders relating to the children, property, debts or obligations and parties."

B. Section 30-3-5(7), Utah Code Ann.: (a) The Court shall consider at least the following factors in determining alimony:

(i) the financial condition and needs of the recipient

spouse;

(ii) the recipient's earning capacity or ability to produce income;

(iii) the ability of the payor spouse to provide support;

(iv) the length of the marriage;

C. Section 30-3-5(7), Utah Code Ann.: (d) The Court may, under appropriate circumstances, attempt to equalize the parties' respective standards of living.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties were married on September 4, 1964. Although they had five children, all children were emancipated prior to the parties separation. At the time of trial, Petitioner ("Jeanny") was employed by the Bureau of Land Management. Petitioner submitted to the Court a 1999 tax return (Exh. 6) and a recent pay check stub to verify her income (Exh. 5). Petitioner also testified to the accuracy of her income (Tr. 28). Petitioner earned approximately \$2,274.00 per month.

Respondent ("Johnny") was employed as a cabinet maker. Respondent testified that she earned approximately \$4,507.00 per month (Tr. 73). The Respondent did not submit to the Court any tax return. He did not submit any pay check stub, nor any other

proof of his income, except for his testimony.

That difference between the parties income is \$2,233.00 per month.

The parties divorce was bifurcated on December 17, 1999 and trial was held on July 6, 2000. At trial, the parties stipulated to a partial division of real and personal property and five issues were heard by the trial court;

- a. Petitioner's request for an eight acre parcel of the farm property awarded to Petitioner;

- b. the division of remaining retirement assets because the Respondent has liquidated his retirement assets, while the case was pending;

- c. disposition of a bank account with approximately \$10,000.00 remaining;

- d. Petitioner's alimony request, and;

- e. attorney's fees

The Court made an equitable division of the real and personal property, and did not favor either party. The Court gave the Respondent a credit in the amount of \$33,400.00 against his alimony obligation in order to equalize the real and personal property division, thus equalizing the division of the real and personal property.

The Court ordered the Respondent to pay \$1,000.00 to

Petitioner as for alimony for a period of ten years, even though the parties were married for over 35 years.

The Court awarded each party their own retirement accounts. The Petitioner was awarded a Thrift Savings Account with \$51,383.00 as the approximate balance and an anticipated pension of \$150.00 per month.

The Respondent liquidated most of his retirement funds, for ten years work, and spent the funds following the parties' separation and prior to the bifurcated divorce (Tr. 95). Respondent provided no accounting or exhibits to justify his expenditures.

The Court awarded the Petitioner \$2,500.00 in attorney's fees.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Argument 1:

The Court did not abuse it's discretion in awarding Petitioner \$1,000.00 per month, as for alimony, for a period of ten years.

SUMMARY PARAGRAPH:

Respondent concedes both that he has the ability to pay alimony and that the Petitioner does not earn enough from her employment to meet her monthly expenses. Respondent does not agree with the amount of alimony ordered. However, the trial court examined all relevant factors and concluded that the

Petitioner was in need of alimony in the amount of \$1,000.00 per month, in order to maintain the standard of living enjoyed during the parties marriage.

Argument 2.

The Court did not abuse it's discretion in dividing the retirement assets.

SUMMARY PARAGRAPH:

The trial court properly awarded the Petitioner a greater percentage share of the retirement account than the Respondent because it considered the special circumstances existing in the parties marriage.

Argument 3.

3. The Court did not abuse it's discretion by ordering the Respondent to pay Petitioner's attorney's fees. In addition, the Petitioner should be awarded her attorney's fees on appeal.

SUMMARY PARAGRAPH:

The trial court considered the reasonableness of the Petitioner's fees, her need for an award of fees, including her ability to earn an income, as well as the Respondent's ability to earn an income and properly awarded the Petitioner \$2,500.00 in attorney's fees.

ARGUMENT

1. The Court did not abuse it's discretion in awarding Petitioner \$1,000.00 per month, as for alimony, for a period of ten years.

Respondent concedes his ability to pay alimony.

(Respondent's Brief at page 6).

Utah courts have held that "an alimony award should, after a marriage . . . and to the extent possible, equalize the parties' respective standards of living and maintain them at a level as close as possible to that standard of living enjoyed during the marriage." Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076, 1081 (Utah 1988); see also Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985); Roberts v. Roberts, 835 P.2d 193, 198 (Utah App. 1992); Bell v. Bell, 810 P.2d 489, 491 (Utah App. 1991).

The trial court attempted to equalize the parties respective standard of living by awarding Jeanny alimony. During the marriage both parties worked. The Court examined the issue of the standard of living during marriage and each parties' ability to earn enough to maintain the standard of living that the parties both enjoyed during marriage. The Court found that the Respondent's ability to earn money was much greater than the Petitioner's (Tr 125). The Court made this finding based upon the Respondent's testimony alone, because the Respondent presented no pay check stubs to prove how much greater his income

actually was than the Petitioner's and he presented no tax returns to prove his actual income. The Respondent admits only that he is capable of paying alimony and that ability is not in dispute. (See Respondent's Brief at page 6).

The Respondent, by failing to provide the trial court with proof as to how much greater his ability was to earn money than the Petitioner's, left the Court to rely on Respondent's testimony alone. In that regard the Court issued specific findings about the Respondent's ability to earn a living (Tr. 125).

Based upon the testimony of Respondent and the testimony and exhibits of the Petitioner, the difference in the parties income is approximately \$2,274.00 per month. (Respondent's Brief at page 3).

The trial court addressed and considered the length of the marriage and found it to be a 35 year marriage (Tr. 126).

The trial court addressed the lack of proof presented in this case by the Respondent and found that the Petitioner's testimony more credible (Tr. 126). The trial court is best able to determine the credibility of a witness. D'Ashton v. D'Ashton, 844 P.2d 345, 355 (Ut. Ct. App 1992).

Respondent admits that the Petitioner does not earn enough to meet her needs (Respondent's brief at pages 5 and 6). The issue presented on appeal then, questions whether or not the

amount ordered was an abuse of discretion. Considering that the trial court found the Petitioner's testimony and presentation to be more credible evidence than Respondent's, the trial court's alimony award to Petitioner in the amount of \$1,000.00 per month does not appear to constitute an abuse of discretion. While the Respondent presented arguments which dispute the Petitioner's financial declaration, the trial court ruled that it found Petitioner's testimony more credible. The Petitioner testified (Tr. 70) that she needed at least \$2,100.00 per month and that she netted only \$1,369.51 per month, leaving her with a shortfall of \$730.00. Respondent claims that the Petitioner's monthly needs should not include the monthly farm payment she made. Even allowing for the Respondent's argument, the trial court heard all the evidence and still found that the Petitioner was entitled to \$1,000.00 per month as for alimony for a period of 10 years.

Given the 35 year length of the marriage this was not an abuse of discretion. The total award of alimony was considered by the court when the trial court found that the Respondent should have the option of paying a one-time lump sum payment as for alimony. (See Findings of Fact, page 4, paragraph 9. Fund in Respondent's Addendum)

In Rehn v. Rehn, 974 P.2d 306, (Ut. Ct. App. 1999), the Utah Court of Appeals held:

In determining whether to award alimony and in setting the amount, a trial court must consider the needs of the recipient

spouse, the earning capacity of the recipient spouse; the ability of the obligor spouse to provide support; and the length of marriage.

The Court did examine the above listed factors; and the results are as follows;

a. the Petitioner was earning as much as she is able to at this time (Tr. 126);

b. the Respondent's ability to earn was much greater than the Petitioner's (Tr. 126);

c. there was no proof offered by Respondent that the Petitioner's financial declaration was inaccurate. There was only an argument that Respondent disagreed with her stated needs. Respondent concedes that the Petitioner does not earn enough to support herself. (See Respondent's Brief at page 6). The trial court found the Petitioner's testimony to be more credible (Tr. 126). ;

d. Respondent admits that his ability to pay alimony is conceded; (See Respondent's Brief at page 6).

e. the trial court addressed the length of the marriage (Tr. 125). The trial court addressed the factors necessary to support an award of alimony.

If the factors have been considered, "we will not disturb the trial court's alimony award unless such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion."

Childs v. Childs, 967 P.2d 942, 946 (Utah Ct. App. 1998).

The Respondent admits his ability to pay alimony, and admits the Petitioner's need. Respondent has failed to assert that any serious inequity has resulted, due to the award to the Petitioner of \$1,000.00 per month in alimony for ten years, that would manifest a "clear abuse of discretion." Id.

2. The Court did not abuse it's discretion in dividing the retirement assets.

The Respondent disposed of most of his retirement accounts prior to trial (Tr. 86). Respondent was given credit for the accounts which he cashed out, which included his 401-K account with the state of Utah, in the amount of \$6,730.95 and for his account at Horace Mann annuity in the amount of \$5,765.80. These two amounts total \$12,496.75. Respondent was also awarded the amount of \$6,100.00 as for an "additional credit" against the American Express IDS account, for a total retirement credits of \$18,596.75.

The Respondent was also awarded his entire interest in the "Utah Retirement Systems Pension". (See Findings of Fact, at paragraphs 8 and 9 which is located in Respondent's Addendum to Brief). The exact amount of the award to Respondent is unclear because he presented no evidence or exhibits to document the value of his Utah Retirement Systems Pension which he was

awarded.

The Petitioner was awarded her thrift account valued at \$51,385.95. The Petitioner was awarded more than the Respondent because the trial court found that a the special circumstance existed in that the Respondent was much more capable of working and earning money than Petitioner, and additionally, that the parties 35 years of marriage was so long that the Petitioner was to a point in her life where she needed the money much more than the Respondent. (See Findings of Fact, at paragraph 10. Findings are included as Respondent's Brief, in the Addendum)

"The best method for distributing or allocating retirement benefits or their value depends on the particular circumstances," Motes v. Motes, 786 P.2d 232, 243 (Ut. Ct. App. 1989).

The trial court was clear in it's Findings of Fact that special circumstances existed: it considered 35 years of marriage and considered the Petitioner's ability to earn a living, as well as the length alimony (10 years), that the Petitioner's need for the retirement was much greater than the Respondent's.

While it is true that in Woodward v. Woodward, 656 P.2d 431, (Utah 1982), the Utah Supreme Court examined an equal split of the distributable portion of the retirement, "such a division is not mandatory." Maxwell v. Maxwell, 754 P. 2d 84, 86-87 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) citing to Bailey v. Bailey, 745 P.2d 830 (Utah Ct. App. 1987 and Marchant v. Marchant, 734 P.2d 199 (Utah Ct. App.

1987).

Therefore, the unequal split of retirement benefits by the trial court was not an abuse of discretion, given the special circumstances cited by the trial court.

3. The Court did not abuse it's discretion by ordering the Respondent to pay Petitioner's attorney's fees. In addition, the Petitioner should be awarded her attorney's fees on appeal.

The Court awarded the Petitioner attorney's fees in the amount of \$2,500.00. The Court found that the fees were reasonable (Tr. 126).

The Court found that the Respondent had the ability to earn more than Petitioner and that the Petitioner was in need of an award of attorney's fees, based upon the trial court's examination of both parties' respective incomes. (Tr. At 126). The award was pursuant to the three requirements set forth in Bell v. Bell, 810 P.2d 489, 493 (Ut. Ct. App. 1991), which set forth the need for "evidence of the receiving spouse's financial need, the payor spouse's ability to pay, and the reasonableness of the requested fees." Bell at 493.

Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-3 (1995), a trial court may award attorney fees in divorce and custody proceedings. The decision to award attorney fees and the amount thereof rests